FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
12/14/2022 2:16 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/14/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case No. 101542-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FUTUREWISE,

Respondent,

v.

SPOKANE COUNTY,

Petitioner,

and

GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondent.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

12-23-22:
Treated as a petition for review.
Supreme Court Clerk's Office

Jessica A. Pilgrim, WSBA #46562 1115 W. Broadway Avenue, 2nd Floor Spokane, Washington 99260 509-477-5764 jpilgrim@spokanecounty.org

Attorney for Petitioner Spokane County

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Spokane County ("County") asks this court to accept review of the parts of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. DECISION

Petitioner Spokane County seeks review of the September 22, 2022, Court of Appeals, Division III opinion, published in part on the relevant issues. More specifically, the County seeks review of the Court's holding regarding the definition and scope of the term "Capital Facilities" in RCW 36.70A.070(3) addressed on pages 4–9 of the opinion in *Futurewise v. Spokane County and Growth Management Hearings Board*, 38657-1-III. A copy of this opinion appears in **Appendix A**. The County also seeks review of the November 15, 2022, denial of the County's motion for reconsideration of the same. A copy is attached as **Appendix B**.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the "Capital Facilities" mandated to be 1. included in a CFP under RCW 36.70A.070(3) include at a minimum, as Division III held, the "public facilities" listed under RCW 36.70A.030(20) as well as fixed physical facilities that have been built constructed, or installed to perform a service, including but not limited to, those services listed under the definition of "public services" in RCW 36.70A.030(21), countywide, and without limitation on their necessity for development; or whether, instead, Capital Facilities are only those that meet the following test: (1) physical public facilities, fixed in location; (2) deemed by the jurisdiction as "necessary to support development," and (3) the facility, along with its location, are directly responsible for the delivery of, and meeting, the established level of service, such that the adequacy of the facility and its location necessarily satisfies the adequacy of the service delivered/provided.

2. Whether Division III's ruling that "nothing in the GMA empowers local jurisdictions to exclude capital facilities from the capital facility plan element because the locality deems the facility unnecessary for development" is in error, contrary to the GMA, and abrogates WAC 365-196-840(2); WAC 365-196-415(5) and WAC 365-196-425(4)(c); WAC 365-196-440(2)(g)(iii) without due consideration and deference.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the scope of the facilities mandated by the Growth Management Act that must be included in the CFP (CFP) under RCW 36.70A.070(3).

Spokane County requests discretionary review of the Appellate Court's holding with respect to the definition and scope of the term "Capital Facilities" as used in RCW 36.70A.070(3), including the Court's holding that the Growth Management Act

("GMA") does not empower Planning Municipalities to exclude capital facilities from the capital facility plan element where such facilities are not "necessary for development." The Court's ruling, when read as a whole and applied, is overbroad, inconsistent with the Growth Management Act, abrogates attendant Washington Administrative Code guidance without due deference and consideration.

Spokane County Resolution 20-0129 adopted the periodic, eight-year update to the Spokane County Comprehensive Plan, including a Capital Facility Plan, required under RCW 36.70A.130. CR 000019, Resolution 20-0129 p. 13. Futurewise challenged the CFP before the Growth Management Hearings Board (GMHB). The GMHB denied the appeal and upheld Spokane County's CFP. CR 001993-002014, *Futurewise v. Spokane County*, EWRGMHB Case No. 20-1-0007, Final Decision and Order (May 12, 2021) (hereinafter "FDO"). Futurewise directly appealed to the Court of Appeals pursuant RCW 34.05.518(1), bringing 11 challenges. CP 45–48; 55–56.

Relevant to the immediate matters are common issues that arose throughout the briefing, but were especially prevalent in issues 1, 2, and 3. Namely, Futurewise argued that Capital Facilities Plans under RCW 36.70A.070(3) must plan for not only "public facilities" such as schools, but also "public services" such as public transit—*i.e.* public bus services, including bus routes and vehicles. See Futurewise Petitioner's brief p. 16, 23, 26; See also CP 001767, 001771, 1872, FDO at CP 001998. And additionally, Futurewise argued that the County's CFP only addressed the urban growth areas when it was instead required to address facilities countywide, including rural areas. Petitioner Futurewise's Appellate Brief at 18–27. In particular, Futurewise argued that the County failed to plan for schools, public transit, fire, emergency services,² and parks in the rural areas.³

_

¹ Futurewise made similar arguments regarding the services of fire protection, and emergency services elsewhere in its brief. Futurewise Petitioner's brief pp. 39, 43.

² Futurewise Petitioner's Brief p. 26.

³ Futurewise Petitioner's Brief p. 26.

The County conceded that its CFP must plan countywide,⁴ but argued it was not required to plan for "public services" in the Capital Facilities Element of its Comprehensive Plan because "services" are not "capital facilities" as contemplated by RCW 36.70A.070(3). County's Response Brief p. 9–22. Spokane County also argued that only those Capital Facilities identified by the County as "necessary for development" are mandated to be included in the CFP. County Response Brief p. 22. In its initial briefing, Futurewise appeared to acknowledge the "necessary for development" requirement of the GMA, stating: "The FDO correctly concluded that to 'comply with RCW 36.70A.070(3), the County must establish which public facilities and services are 'necessary to support development'. . ." Futurewise Petitioner's Brief p. 28.

On May 12, 2022, after initial briefing had been submitted, but before oral argument, the County, prompted by the passage of

⁴ Spokane County Response Brief p. 48.

E.S.S.B. 5593, 67th Leg., Reg. Sess. § (Wash.2022) (codified as amended at RCW 36.70A.130), moved to provide supplemental briefing which was granted by the Court the same day. In its supplemental briefing submitted on May 31, 2022, the County provided further support for the scope and limitations on which "capital facilities" were mandated to be included in its CFP under RCW 36.70A.070(3). The County proposed a three-pronged test for determining which capital facilities must be included in a CFP: they must be public facilities: (1) "Necessary to support development," (2) a physical facility, fixed in location; and (3) the facility, along with its location, are directly responsible for the delivery of, and meeting, the established level of service, such that the adequacy of the facility and its location necessarily satisfies the adequacy of the service delivered/provided. Spokane County's Supplemental Brief, at 5–6. The County's reasoning for such a multi-part test, as opposed to merely assigning a dictionary definition to "capital facilities," was that such a test was necessary to harmonize all provisions of the GMA without rendering any superfluous. *Id.* at 7. The matter was set for oral argument and heard on June 7, 2022.

Division III's decision rendered on September 22, 2022, accepted Parties' concession that the CFP element must address facilities countywide. Futurewise v. Spokane County, Wn. App. ____, 517 P.3d at 523; see also Slip. Op. at 24. The Court also agreed, in part, with Spokane County that the "Capital Facilities" must be a physical facility, fixed in location, that deliver a public service, but did not agree that the planning jurisdiction had the discretion to identify and address in its CFP only those facilities it deemed "necessary to support development." Futurewise, 517 P.3d at 524 (2022). The Court also did not limit "capital facilities" to those facilities listed in the "public facilities" and "public services" definitional section of RCW 36.70A.030. Instead, after reviewing the dictionary definitions of "capital" and "facility" for guidance, the Court held that based on those definitions:

It follows that an asset or resource built, constructed, installed, or established to perform a particular function falls within the scope of a capital facility, as contemplated by RCW 36.70A.070(3). This would naturally include the narrower list of "public facilities" contained in RCW 36.70A.030(2), but would also extend to other facilities built or installed to perform some sort of service identifiable under the GMA, such as the "public services" in RCW 36.70A.030(21).

Futurewise v. Spokane Cnty., 517 P.3d at 523–524. The Court further summarized its definition of "capital facility" as:

[A] "capital facility" as contemplated by RCW 36.70A.070(3) is a fixed, physical facility that has been built, constructed, or installed to perform a service relevant to the considerations at issue in the GMA, such as the "public services" listed in RCW 36.70A.030(21). Capital facilities include the "public facilities" listed in RCW 36.70A.030(20), but are not necessarily limited to facilities falling under the "public facilities" definition.

Futurewise v. Spokane Cnty., 517 P.3d at 524.

Pursuant to RAP 12.4, on October 5, 2022, the County moved for reconsideration of the Court's decision regarding the scope and definition "capital facilities." In its motion, the County argued the Court had failed to take into consideration the GMA

construed as a whole, inadvertently abrogated large parts of WAC 365-196, and also misapprehended that the ruling, when read as a whole and applied potentially prevents the distinction between planning in rural areas versus urban areas and requires jurisdictions to plan for all of those "capital facilities" defined under RCW 36.70A.030(20) and (21) countywide, without the discretion to exclude, or not plan for certain facilities in certain circumstances. See generally Spokane County's Brief on Motion for Indeed, the County argued that a strict Reconsideration. construction of the Court's holding requires jurisdictions to plan for some urban services contained within the definitional sections of RCW 36.70A.030(20) or (21) in rural areas—which is prohibited. Id. Upon the Court's Order, Futurewise filed a Response to the Motion for Reconsideration on October 27, 2022. On November 15, 2022, the Court summarily denied the County's Motion for Reconsideration.

Spokane County now timely brings this Motion for Discretionary Review pursuant to RAP 13.3(a) and 13.4.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Pursuant to Rule of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4(b) the present case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court for the reasons outlined below.

1. The provision at issue affects at least 18 counties and their incorporated cities; clarity and guidance is needed.

RCW 36.70A.130 mandates that certain counties and their incorporated cities plan in accordance, and comply, with the Growth Management Act. Noncompliance with the GMA results in sanctions. See, e.g., RCW 36.70A.330(3)(b) (GMHB can recommend the governor impose sanctions for continuing noncompliance); RCW 36.70A.340 (noncompliance and sanctions); RCW 36.70A.345 (sanctions); RCW 70A.135.070(2), WAC 242-03-960, WAC 173-98-710 (ineligibility for loans for water pollution control facilities for GMA noncompliance); RCW 43.155.070 (ineligibility for certain funding passed through the public works board for GMA noncompliance).

The GMA mandates planning jurisdictions adopt a Comprehensive Plan. RCW 36.70A.040, RCW 36.70A.045, RCW 36.70A.130. The Comprehensive Plan, in turn, is mandated to include specific "elements." RCW 36.70A.070. Among these elements is the Capital Facilities Plan. RCW 36.70A.070. The CFP must also include specific elements. RCW 36.70A.070(3). Although RCW 36.70A.070(3) uses the term "capital facilities" five times in reference to what must be planned for, the Growth Management Act does not actually define "Capital Facilities." See RCW 36.70A.030; RCW 36.70A.070(3). Without a definition for "Capital Facilities," jurisdictions are left to guess what is *mandated* to be included in CFP—the omission of which would result in their noncompliance with the GMA, and what is permissive—the omission of which would *not* result in GMA noncompliance. See

WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(ii)(C). WAC 365-196-415(2)(a)(ii) attempts to give guidance on this matter and suggests some recommendations for what *should* be included but recognizes that planning jurisdictions have the ultimate discretion to determine which Capital Facilities are "necessary for development." Indeed, the WAC guidance indicates it is only those facilities "necessary for development" that are *mandated* to be included in the CFP. WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(ii)(B) and (C).

Further confusion exists because, while the GMA mandates jurisdictions to plan for "adequate *public facilities and services*," *See, e.g.*, RCW 36.70A.020(1), (12), RCW 36.70A.110(3) (emphasis added), the GMA also recognizes that such planning, where not specifically mandated and outlined by the Act, is within the discretion of the planning jurisdiction. *See* RCW 36.70A.3201. In other words, unless an express provision of the GMA *mandates* that the County plan for a certain thing in a certain way, the planning jurisdiction is free to plan however it wishes, so long as it doesn't offend the GMA. The GMA goal

requiring adequate *services* be provided under RCW 36.70A.020(1) and (12) without an express mandate for *how* to accomplish such a task, has led to jurisdictions' use of the CFP to plan for public services that often do not directly rely on the adequacy of capital *facilities* to deliver or meet an established level of service. This in turn has led to confusing and conflicting GMHB rulings.

Indeed, the scant GMHB administrative precedent on the subject reflects this struggle. For example, in *McVittie v. Snohomish County*, CPSGMHB Case No. 01-3-0002, pg. 15 (FDO, July 25, 2001),⁵ the GMHB acknowledged that RCW 36.70A.020(12) discusses "public facilities and services," which are not defined together in the GMA, but rather separately, and then concluded that the CFP must include an LOS for "all facilities that meet the definition of "public facilities under RCW 36.70A.030[(20)]." However, in *Wilma v. Stevens County* Decision, No. 06-1-0009e, 2007 WL 1153336, at 15, the GMHB

_

⁵ Included in Appendix A to Spokane County's Reply Brief, below.

expanded *McVittie* without explanation and held that "public services" as defined must also be included in the CFP.

This recurring issue requires clarification and guidance.

2. The Appellate Court's current published opinion is overbroad, conflicts with certain tenants of the GMA, and abrogated several WACs without due deference or consideration.

Division III did not analyze the GMA guidance provided in the WACs. Instead, the Court reviewed the Dictionary, RCW 36.70A.070(3), and the definitions located in RCW 36.70A.030(20) and (21) in isolation—without harmonizing the whole of the GMA, including the Planning Goals under RCW 36.70A.020(1) and (12)—and without due consideration of the GMA guidance in the attendant WACs. Because of this, the Court's holding is overbroad and abrogates several existing WACs without due consideration.

a. The Court's holding is overbroad.

"It should be noted that from the beginning the GMA was 'riddle with politically necessary omissions, internal inconsistencies, and vague language." Thurston County v. WWGMHB, 164 Wn.2d 329, 342, 190 P.3d 38 (2008) (quoting Quadrant Corp. v. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 154 Wn.2d 224, 232, 110 P.3d 1132 (2005) (quoting Richard L. Settle, Revisiting the Growth Management Act: Washington's Growth Management Revolution Goes to Court, 23 SEATTLE U.L.REV. 5, 8 (1999)). Because the "GMA was spawned by controversy, not consensus" it is not to be liberally construed. Woods v. Kittitas County, 162 Wn.2d 597, 612 n. 8, 174 P.3d 25 (2007) (quoting Settle, *supra*, at 34). A tribunal's role is to interpret the statute as enacted by the legislature, not to rewrite the GMA. Woods, 162 Wn.2d at 614. "There is no exclusive method for accomplishing the requirements of the [GMA]." WAC 365-196-020(1). "Counties and cities can achieve compliance with the goals and requirements of the act by adopting other approaches [aside from those recommended by the WAC]." WAC 365-196-030(2).

"The primary goal in statutory interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the Legislature." *Quadrant Corp.*, 154 Wn.2d at 238–39 (quoting *King Cnty. v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 543, 555, 14 P.3d 133 (2000)). To discern legislative intent, "the court begins with the statute's plain language and ordinary meaning," but also looks to the applicable legislative enactment as a whole, harmonizing its provisions by reading them in context with related provisions and the statute as a whole." *Id.* (quoting *King Cnty.*, 142 Wn.2d at 555, 560).

When Division III determined that the list of examples of "public facilities" and facilities that provide "public services" were a minimum list of mandates that must be addressed in the CFP without acknowledging that Counties could determine

which of those facilities were "necessary for development," it failed to consider all provisions of the GMA in relation to one another and harmonize all rather than rendering any superfluous. In so doing, the Court misapprehended that its decision was overbroad and failed to give jurisdictions the local discretion afforded to them in the GMA that are necessary to effectively plan.

The Court's holding, when read as a whole, requires that counties' CFPs address a set list of facilities that deliver services countywide, without any distinction between whether those facilities are appropriate or permitted in rural versus urban areas, or necessary for development versus not, thereby obligating Counties plan for a set list of facilities without any link to the goals in the GMA and the purpose behind the CFP.

Taken as a whole, the Court held:

- 1. The CFP must plan for "capital facilities" countywide;6 and
- 2. The "capital facilities" (above) that must be planned for countywide under the CFP element in RCW 36.70A.070(3) include at a minimum: domestic water systems, storm and sanitary sewer systems, parks and recreational facilities, and schools, as well as facilities built or installed to perform the services of fire protection and suppression, enforcement. public health. education. recreation. protection, and environmental other governmental services;8 and

⁶ "The parties agree [the County's comprehensive Plan] failed to... include unincorporated rural areas..." *Futurewise*, 517 P.3d at 523. "Futurewise and Spokane County agree that... the [GMHB] failed to recognize that the capital facilities plan element must be performed county wide... We accept these concessions." *Futurewise*, Slip. Op. at 24 (unpublished portion).

⁷ "[I]t appears the legislature intended the term "capital facilities" to *include*, *but not necessarily be limited by*, the term "public facilities." . . . The legislature has defined "public facilities" as including "streets, roads, highways, sidewalks, street and road lighting systems, traffic signals, domestic water systems, storm and sanitary sewer systems, parks and recreational facilities, and schools." RCW 36.70A.030(20). . ." Futurewise, 517 P.3d at 524 (emphasis added).

⁸ "From the [dictionary definitions of "capital" and "facility"] it necessarily follows that an asset or resource built, constructed,

3. The planning jurisdiction does not have the discretion to exclude, or fail to plan, for any of the facilities listed in number 2 above.⁹

Contrary to the Court's holding, the Capital Facilities Element mandates only one specific facility be included in it: parks and recreation facilities. RCW 36.70A.070(3). Otherwise, the CFP is silent as to which capital facilities must be included in the capital facilities element. *Id.* As the Court found, the GMA does not define "capital facilities" but does define "public facilities," and "public services." RCW 36.70A.030(20) and (21) respectively.

_

installed, or established to perform a particular function falls within the scope of a capital facility, as contemplated by RCW 36.70A.070(3). This would naturally include the narrower list of "public facilities" contained in RCW 36.70A.030(20), but it would also extend to other facilities built or installed to perform some sort of service identifiable under the GMA, such the "public services" in RCW 36.70A.030(21)." Futurewise, 517 P.3d at 524 (emphasis added).

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