# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/3/2023 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

## Supreme Court Case No. 101542-9 (Court of Appeals Case No. 38657-1-III)

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### FUTUREWISE,

Respondent,

v.

#### SPOKANE COUNTY,

Petitioner,

and

#### GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondent.

### FUTUREWISE'S ANSWER TO SPOKANE COUNTY'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

(Treated as an Answer to Petition for Review)

Tim Trohimovich, WSBA No. 22367
Futurewise
816 Second Ave. Ste. 200
Seattle, Washington, 98104
(206) 343-0681 Ext. 102/ Mobile 206-853-6077

Email: tim@futurewise.org
Attorney for Futurewise

#### CONTENTS

CONTENTS

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

On page 13 the County's motion claims that the CFP guidance in the Washington Administrative Code only mandates that facilities necessary for development must be included in the CFP. That is not the case, WAC 365-196-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> RCW 36.70A.010; RCW 36.70A.020(1), (3).

415(2)(b)(i) recommends "forecasting needs for capital facilities during the planning period ..." This recommendation is not limited to capital facilities that are necessary for development; it applies to <u>all</u> capital facilities.<sup>34</sup>

The Counties preferred approach of only planning for capital facilities it deems necessary for growth ignores the needs of existing communities that may have deficiencies or need new or rehabilitated capital facilities "to preserve the ability to maintain existing capacity."<sup>35</sup> It also risks ignoring the capital facilities needed for growth because a county chooses not to properly plan for some capital facilities such as schools as the County did in this case.<sup>36</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(i) underlining added.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> WAC 365-196-415(21)(b)(ii)(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Futurewise v. Spokane Cnty., Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III p. 5 (Sept. 22, 2022), 517 P.3d 519, 523 (2022) "¶11 The parties agree Spokane County's 2020 Comprehensive Plan failed to satisfy the required components of the capital facilities plan element. Specifically, they agree the Plan failed to address noncounty-owned public facilities such as schools and failed to include unincorporated rural areas."

## 2. The Court's holding <u>does not</u> require counties to plan for or provide urban services in rural areas.

The Court of Appeals opinion in this case states in part that:

¶36 We affirm in part, reverse in part, and remand to the Board with instructions that the following corrections be made to the Spokane County Comprehensive Plan:

. . .

• The capital facilities plan element must cover Spokane County's entire planning area, not just UGAs, and cannot simply rely on prior capital facility plans without reanalyzing present validity.<sup>37</sup>

This conclusion is amply supported by the plain language of the GMA and Commerce's minimum guidelines.<sup>38</sup>

It is also supported by Spokane County's concessions in its briefing. The County's Opening Brief on page 44 concedes that Spokane County's Capital Facilities Plan (CFP) fails to plan for capital facilities outside urban growth areas and that the CFP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Futurewise v. Spokane Cnty., Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III p. 16 (Sept. 22, 2022), 517 P.3d 519, 526 (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> RCW 36.70A.030(5); RCW 36.70A.070; RCW 36.70A.070(3); WAC 365-196-415.

should be remanded to the County to correct this error. The

County's Opening Brief also on page 44 concedes that the

County "cannot rely on prior CFPs without reanalyzing their

validity at present." "Spokane County also concedes [on page

44 of the County's Opening Brief] that part of determining the

LOS includes addressing the needs for maintenance and

rehabilitation of the existing systems of County-owned facilities

and the need to address existing deficiencies, and these together

constitutes the capital facilities demand."

Despite the County's concession that it did not plan for the entire jurisdiction and that this is an error the County must correct, the County's Motion on pages 18 to 20 argues the Court's opinion requires the county to plan for and provide urban services in rural areas. However, the opinion does not require that urban governmental services must be provided in the rural area.<sup>39</sup> The opinion does correctly state that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Futurewise v. Spokane Cnty., Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III pp. 1-16 (Sept. 22, 2022), 517 P.3d 519, 521-27 (2022).

The parties agree Spokane County's 2020 Comprehensive Plan failed to satisfy the required components of the capital facilities plan element. Specifically, they agree the Plan failed to address noncounty-owned public facilities such as schools and failed to include unincorporated rural areas.<sup>40</sup>

This is the only mention of rural in the opinion.<sup>41</sup> The opinion does not state that the County must plan for the same levels of service and the same capital facilities in both the urban and rural areas.<sup>42</sup>

The County points out that the Court wrote that "nothing in the GMA empowers local jurisdictions to exclude capital facilities from the capital facility plan element because the locality deems the facility unnecessary for development." But RCW 36.70A.110(4) prohibits the extension or expansion of urban governmental services in rural areas. The Court's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Id.* Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III p. 5, 517 P.3d at 523.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> *Id.* Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III pp. 1-16, 517 P.3d at 521-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> *Id.* Slip Opinion p. 9, 517 P.3d at 524.

decision did not conflict with this requirement.<sup>44</sup> RCW 36.70A.110(4) is the reason that Counties cannot plan for urban governmental services in rural areas. It is not because counties do not consider them necessary to serve new development.

F. The Court of Appeals decision in this case does <u>not</u> abrogate WAC 365-196-840(2), WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(ii)(B) or (5), WAC 365-196-425(4)(c), or WAC 365-196-440(2)(g)(iii). Read together with the other procedural criteria these regulations <u>require</u> capital facility planning for all public capital facilities.

The GMA's requirements for the capital facility plan element are in RCW 36.70A.070(3). WAC 365-196-415 includes the procedural criteria adopted by the Commerce to interpret RCW 36.70A.070(3). The department's purpose is to provide assistance in interpreting the act, not to add provisions and meanings beyond those intended by the legislature."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> *Id.* Slip Opinion pp. 1-16, 517 P.3d at 521-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> WAC 365-196-020(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Id*.

The County's Motion argues that the opinion abrogated WAC 365-196-415(2) and (5). Courts construe regulations "as a whole giving effect to all of the language used." Reading WAC 365-196-415 as a whole shows that that the opinion does not abrogated WAC 365-196-415(5).

WAC 365-196-415(2)(b) recommends in part:

- (b) Forecast of future needs.
- (i) Counties and cities should forecast needs for capital facilities during the planning period, based on the levels of service or planning assumptions selected and consistent with the growth, densities and distribution of growth anticipated in the land use element. The forecast should include reasonable assumptions about the effect of any identified system management or demand management approaches to preserve capacity or avoid the need for new facilities.
- (ii) The capital facilities element should identify all capital facilities that are planned to be provided within the planning period, including general location and capacity.
- (A) Counties and cities should identify those improvements that are necessary to address existing deficiencies or to preserve the ability to maintain existing capacity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> *Mader v. Health Care Auth.*, 149 Wn.2d 458, 472, 70 P.3d 931, 937 (2003), *as corrected on denial of reconsideration* (Aug. 12, 2003), *as corrected* (Sept. 3, 2003).

(B) Counties and cities should identify those improvements that are necessary for development. (C) Counties and cities may identify any other improvements desired to raise levels of services above locally adopted minimum standards, to enhance the quality of life in the community or meet other community needs not related to growth such as administrative offices, courts or jail facilities. ....

So, WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(i) recommends "forecasting needs for capital facilities during the planning period ..." This recommendation is not limited to capital facilities that are needed to accommodate growth, it includes all capital facilities. <sup>48</sup> WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(ii) further recommends the identification of three categories of capital facilities: (A) improvements "necessary to address existing deficiencies or to preserve the ability to maintain existing capacity," (B) improvements "necessary for development," and (C) "improvements desired to raise levels of services above locally adopted minimum standards ...."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(i).

WAC 365-196-415(5) recognizes that capital facility plan includes capital facilities in addition to facilities considered necessary for development, that is why it recommends the capital facility element identify facilities necessary for development. If all capital facilities in the capital facility plan were necessary for development, this recommendation would not be needed.

WAC 365-196-415(5) only addresses <u>part</u> of the forecast recommended by WAC 365-196-415(2)(b). WAC 365-196-415(5) also only addresses <u>a subset of one</u> of the three categories recommended by WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(ii) the "[r]elationship between growth and provision of adequate public facilities." The opinion's conclusion defining capital facilities properly recognize all of categories of capital facilities recommended in WAC 365-196-415(2)(b). WAC 365-196-415(5) does not conflict with WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)'s recommendations, instead it augments part of the recommendations. By seeking to confine the definition of

capital facilities to only one of the subsets of capital facilities in WAC 365-196-415(2)(b) and WAC 365-196-415(5)(b) and ignoring the other parts of WAC 365-196-415, the County erroneously interprets RCW 36.70A.070(3) and WAC 365-196-415 by failing to read the regulations as a whole.

The opinion by correctly interpreting RCW 36.70A.070(3)(b) to require a forecast of the future needs for all publicly owned facilities, not just those necessary for growth, does not inadvertently abrogate WAC 365-196-415(5).<sup>49</sup> Instead the opinion is consistent with WAC 365-196-415 read as a whole.

WAC 365-196-425 are the procedural criteria that interpret the comprehensive plan's rural element requirements in RCW 36.70A.070(5).<sup>50</sup> WAC 365-196-425(4)(c) provides "[w]hen establishing levels of service in the capital facilities and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Futurewise v. Spokane Cnty., Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III pp. 13-14 (Sept. 22, 2022), 517 P.3d 519, 525 (2022). <sup>50</sup> WAC 365-196-425.

transportation element, each county should establish rural levels of service, for those rural services that are necessary for development, to determine if it is providing adequate public facilities." Note that WAC 365-196-425(4)(c) recommends "rural levels of service, for those rural services that are necessary for development ..." but does not recommend against level of service standards for other capital facilities. This is consistent with the minimum guidelines for capital facility plan elements in WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(i) which recommends that "[c]ounties and cities should forecast needs for capital facilities during the planning period, based on the levels of service or planning assumptions ...." WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(i) applies to forecasts for all capital facilities in urban areas, rural areas, and on natural resource lands. This is consistent with WAC 365-196-425(4)(c) because that WAC recommends level of service standards for rural services that are necessary for development but does not prohibit level of service standards for other capital facilities while WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)(i) calls

for level of service standards or planning assumptions for all capital facilities. The opinion by correctly interpreting RCW 36.70A.070(3)(b) to require a forecast of the future needs for all publicly owned facilities does not abrogate WAC 365-196-425(4)(c).<sup>51</sup>

WAC 365-196-440 are the procedural criteria that interpret the parks and recreation element which is required by RCW 36.70A.070(8) if funded by the legislature.<sup>52</sup> WAC 365-196-440(2)(g)(iii) provides:

- (iii) Strategies for financing must be consistent with the financing plan in the capital facilities element. If a local government intends to adopt impact fees as a strategy, it must identify those facilities as necessary for development and should identify them in:
- (A) The parks and recreation element;
- (B) A separate parks plan; or
- (C) In the capital facilities element.

24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Futurewise v. Spokane Cnty., Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III pp. 13-14 (Sept. 22, 2022), 517 P.3d 519, 525 (2022). <sup>52</sup> RCW 36.70A.070(8).

Nothing in WAC 365-196-440(2)(g)(iii) limits planning for publicly owned capital facilities to those necessary for growth or development. Instead, WAC 365-196-440(2)(g)(iii) expects that capital facility plans will include both capital facilities necessary for development and other capital facility improvements. Otherwise, why would it be necessary to identify those facilities necessary for development in the parks and recreation element, a separate parks plan, or the capital facilities element? If only facilities necessary to accommodate growth are included in the capital facilities plan element, this separate identification would not be necessary. The opinion did not abrogate WAC 365-196-440(2)(g)(iii)

The story is the same for WAC 365-196-840. WAC 365-196-840 are the procedural criteria that interpret the concurrency requirements in RCW 36.70A.070(6)(b). WAC 365-196-840(2) provides that "[c]ounties and cities may adopt a concurrency mechanism for other facilities that are deemed necessary for development. See WAC 365-196-415(5)." But

WAC 365-196-840(2) does not allow counties and cities to only plan for capital facilities that are deemed necessary for development. And as we have seen, WAC 365-196-415(2)(b) recommends that capital facility plans forecast needs for all publicly owned capital facilities including (A) improvements "necessary to address existing deficiencies or to preserve the ability to maintain existing capacity," (B) improvements "necessary for development," and (C) "improvements desired to raise levels of services above locally adopted minimum standards ...." WAC 365-196-415(5) does not conflict with WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)'s recommendations. WAC 365-196-840(2) by addressing the concurrency requirements but not all of the CFP requirements does not conflict with WAC 365-196-415(2)(b)'s recommendations because they apply more broadly to CFPs. The opinion did not abrogate WAC 365-196-840(2).

In sum, nothing in WAC 365-196-840(2), WAC 365-196-415, WAC 365-196-425(4)(c), and WAC 365-196-440(2)(g)(iii) recommend or allow capital facility plan elements

to only plan for capital facilities necessary for development. To the contrary, WAC 365-196-415(2)(b) recommends that capital facility plans forecast needs for all publicly owned capital facilities. While these regulations are not part of the GMA, they do support the opinion's conclusion that "nothing in the GMA empowers local jurisdictions to exclude capital facilities from the capital facility plan element because the locality deems the facility unnecessary for development." This conclusion from the court of appeals opinion does <u>not</u> abrogate WAC 365-196-440(2), WAC 365-196-415(5), WAC 365-196-425, or WAC 365-196-440(2)(g)(iii).

## G. The Court of Appeals decision provides the necessary guidance to counties and cities that fully plan under the GMA.

The Court of Appeals decision answered important questions such as the definition of "capital facilities," that capital facility planning must take place for the entire

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Futurewise v. Spokane Cnty., Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III p. 9 (Sept. 22, 2022), 517 P.3d 519, 524 (2022).

jurisdiction, that transportation facilities are not included in the CFP, but instead are addressed in the transportation element, that the requirements of RCW 36.70A.070(3)(c) to apply only to facilities "owned and operated by the city or county" rather than capital facilities owned by any public entity, and that sources of public money does not require a breakdown of the amounts of money to be secured from each source.<sup>54</sup> The Court of Appeals decision provides the guidance Spokane County seeks.

Contrary to the County's motion pages 14 and 15, there is no conflict between the *McVittie* and *Wilma* Board decisions.

As *McVittie VI* wrote: "The Board does not here definitively state the totality of the 'facilities' that the Act requires be included in the [capital facility plan element] CFE" recognizing CFP must address more than public facilities. 55 The *Wilma* 

<sup>54</sup> *Id.* Slip Opinion No. 38657-1-III pp. 1-16, 517 P.3d at 521-26.

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